FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/31/2019 2:46 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. <u>97283-4</u>					
THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON					
COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION THREE, CASE NO. 35530-6-III					
State v. Imra Green Van Wolvelaere, Defendant					
Julia Tucker, Appellant					
•					
State's Petition for Review					

Gregory L. Zempel Kittitas County Prosecuting Attorney

By: Zand Z. HighLAND, WSBA #20504
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Kittitas County Prosecutor's Office 205 W. 5<sup>th</sup> Avenue Ste. 213 Ellensburg WA. 98926 509-962-7520

# **

# I. IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTY.

The State of Washington asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated below in Section II.

# II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

The Court of Appeals decision at issue is *State v. Imra Green Van Wolvelaere, Defendant, Julia Tucker, Appellant*, No. 35530-6-III, filed May 2, 2019 (published opinion). Although charged together, Mr. Van Wolvelaere, and Ms. Tucker resolved their respective matters in different manners, and the decision of the Court of Appeals and this petition for review concern only Ms. Tucker, and her conviction for Theft of a Motor Vehicle involving a snowmobile.

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

A. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding that a snow mobile did not constitute a motor vehicle for purposes of the Theft of a Motor Vehicle statute, RCW 9A.56.065?<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ms. Tucker's appeal was stayed on March 26, 2018, pending this Court's decision in *State v. Blair*, 191 Wn.2d 155, 421 P.3d 937 (2018), which involved Mr. Blair's challenge to prior theft of a motor vehicle convictions premised on his theft of snowmobiles. This Court decided Mr. Blair's challenge on other grounds, and did not reach the issue of whether or not a snowmobile was a motor vehicle for the purpose of the theft of a motor vehicle statute.

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.<sup>2</sup>

In February of 2016, Niel Nielsen was informed of a broken window at his three-bedroom cabin about ten miles from Easton in Kittitas County. RP 67, 68. When Mr. Nielsen responded to his cabin, he discovered that an X-box, snowmobile helmets, snow boots, snow bibs, snow clothing, and one of his two snowmobiles, had been stolen. RP 69.

Mr. Nielsen's cabin sits on ten acres and is approximately three "blocks" off of the main road. RP 63. The main road is actually a snowmobile road which is off limits to cars in the winter. RP 64, 79-80. Mr. Nielsen testified that at the time of this February theft, the only way to access his cabin was by using a snowmobile. RP 68.

Kittitas County Deputy Nate Foster had discovered the damage to Mr. Nielsen's cabin when he was in the area looking for Mr. Van Wolvelaere. RP 110. Deputy Foster testified that he was unable to utilize his patrol vehicle and that it was necessary to meet up with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ms. Tucker was charged as a principal or accomplice to the crimes of Residential Burglary, Theft in the Second Degree, Theft of a Motor Vehicle, and Malicious Mischief in the Third Degree. She was found guilty of the lesser included of Criminal Trespass in the First Degree, as well as Theft of a Motor Vehicle. The jury hung on the Theft in the Second Degree charge and acquitted Ms. Tucker of the Malicious Mischief charge. Since the State's petition for Review concerns itself only with Ms. Tucker's conviction for Theft of a Motor Vehicle for her participation in the theft of the victim's snowmobile, the State's rendition of the facts of the case will concern itself primarily with that issue.

another resident and load up in a "snowcat" in order to check the general vicinity. RP 110. In February, the snow was so deep that a car would have gotten stuck. RP 80, 139. Deputy Foster stated that none of the roads in the area of Mr. Nielsen's cabin were accessible except by either snowmobile or foot. RP 147. Mr. Van Wolvelaere testified that there was several feet of snow in the area when he and Ms. Tucker arrived, and that another foot fell while they were in the vicinity. When Deputy Foster arrived at Mr. Nielsen's cabin, he noticed snowmobile tracks coming out of the garage. RP 111,112.

According to Mr. Van Wolvelaere, he and Ms. Tucker needed the snowmobile to drive up to Snoqualmie Summit and to "civilization." RP 141, 192. Ms. Tucker confirmed that they had taken the snowmobile to ride to the Summit. RP 125. While at the Summit, Steven Choi, a security officer at Snoqualmie Summit, and Patrick Daly, a lift mechanic at the Summit observed both Mr. Van Wolvelaere and Ms. Tucker loading Mr. Nielsen's snowmobile into the back of a pick-up. RP 86-87, 92-93, 97, 99, 102, 118-119. The snowmobile was recovered some three months later in North Bend. RP 74.

# V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

#### A. STANDARD FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

A party may seek review of a Court of Appeals decision terminating review. RAP 13.3(a), 13.4(a). This Court will accept review in the following circumstances:

- If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

Review is warranted here because the decision below presents a question of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals relied on *State v. Barnes*, 189 Wn.2d 492, 403 P.3d 72 (2017), in which this Court held that a riding lawn mower is not a "motor vehicle" for purposes of the theft of a motor vehicle statute. But *Barnes* is materially distinguishable. In failing to recognize the distinction between a vehicle whose sole purpose is cutting grass and a vehicle whose sole purpose is transportation in the snow, the Court of Appeals unreasonably constrains the definition of motor

vehicle for the purposes of statutes prohibiting theft of a motor vehicle.

First, although RCW 9A.56.065 includes within its findings and legislative intent language specific to the automobile and family car, its stated purpose and text are not so limited. Both RCW 9A.56.070 Taking Motor Vehicle Without Permission in the First Degree (mentioned as being amended by the LAWS OF 2007 ch. 199³), and RCW 9A.56.075 Taking Motor Vehicle Without Permission in the Second Degree speak to the crime of intentionally taking or driving away *an/any automobile or motor vehicle*. (emphasis added). If 9A.56.065 were limited to only automobiles and family cars, it would render the term "motor vehicle" in the Taking Motor Vehicle statutes both overly inclusive and superfluous.

Further the structure of Title 46 of the Revised Code of Washington, entitled "Motor Vehicles," supports the position that the legislature intended the term "motor vehicle" to include snowmobiles. This title includes chapter 46.10, entitled

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Both the Court in *Barnes*, and the Court in Ms. Tucker's case looked to the LAWS OF 2007, ch. 199, to arrive at the conclusion that the crime of Theft of a Motor Vehicle is limited to cars and other automobiles.

"Snowmobiles." In contrast, the riding lawnmowers at issue in Barnes are not referenced even once in Title 46.

Finally, as the record in this case demonstrates, there are homes in our state that are accessible *only* by snowmobile in the winter.

To hold that a snowmobile is not a motor vehicle would deny the protection of the laws against taking motor vehicles to those families who depend upon a snowmobile to access their homes or to secure necessary food and supplies during the winter months.

As Judge Korsmo warned in a footnote in his dissent in this case:

[i]n the absence of a clear definition, we soon will be facing other challenges—semitrailers, motorcycles, pickup trucks, road graders, vans, electric vehicles that do not have motors, all-terrain vehicles, as well as farm vehicles such as tractors and combines – that are likely to line up in the trial courts.

State v. Imra Green Van Wolvelaere, Defendant, Julia Tucker, Appellant, No. 35530-6-III, filed May 2, 2019 (published opinion).

This Court should grant review to interpret the term "motor vehicle" in order to give necessary guidance to citizens, prosecuting attorneys, and trial courts.

#### VI. CONCLUSION.

Cases like Ms. Tucker's demonstrate the need for this Court to define the term motor vehicle in a common sense and discernible

manner. Because this case involves an issue of substantial public interest, the State respectfully requests that this Court grant this petition for review.