ARGUMENT 

 

The State filed its petition claiming that there is a question of sub-

stantial interest which must be resolved based upon a Court of Appeals de-

cision determining that a snowmobile is not a motor vehicle. See: RAP 13.4 

(b); State v. Tucker, slip opinion 35530-6-III (May 2, 2019). 

The State attempts to distinguish Ms. Tucker’s case from the opin-

ion in State v. Barnes, 189 Wn.2d 492, 403 P.3d 72 (2017). The Barnes 

Court ruled that a riding lawn mower is not a motor vehicle.  

The central question revolves around the definition of “motor vehi-

cle.” 

The State’s petition argues that the structure of Title 46 RCW sup-

ports its position that the Legislature intended to include snowmobiles in 

the term “motor vehicle.” The State cites no authority in support of its ar-

gument. See: RAP 10.3 (a)(6); Matter of Guardianship of Atkins, 57 Wn. 

App. 771, 790 P.2d 210 (1990).  

The Legislature did see fit to define the word “snowmobile.” RCW 

46.04.546 states:  

"Snowmobile" means a self-propelled vehi-

cle that is capable of traveling over snow or 

ice that (1) utilizes as its means of propulsion 

an endless belt tread or cleats, or any combi-

nation of these or other similar means of con-
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tact with the surface upon which it is oper-

ated, (2) is steered wholly or in part by skis 

or sled type runners, and (3) is not otherwise 

registered as, or subject to, the motor vehicle 

excise tax in the state of Washington. 

 

The definition is obviously inapplicable to what is commonly un-

derstood as being a motor vehicle.  

A snowmobile has no tires.  

A snowmobile is steered by skis or sled type runners as opposed to 

a steering wheel.  

Snowmobiles are not required to be registered in connection with 

the motor vehicle excise tax.  

RCW 82.44.125 (1) specifically sets forth those vehicles subject to 

the tax. Subparagraph (f) of that statute references RCW 46.04.320.  

RCW 46.04.320 states: 

"Motor vehicle" means every vehicle that is 

self-propelled and every vehicle that is pro-

pelled by electric power obtained from over-

head trolley wires, but not operated upon 

rails. "Motor vehicle" includes a neighbor-

hood electric vehicle as defined in RCW 

46.04.357. "Motor vehicle" includes a me-

dium-speed electric vehicle as defined in 

RCW 46.04.295. An electric personal assis-

tive mobility device is not considered a motor 

vehicle. A power wheelchair is not consid-

ered a motor vehicle. A golf cart is not con-

sidered a motor vehicle, except for the pur-

poses of chapter 46.61 RCW. 

http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=46.04.357
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=46.04.295
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=46.61
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As can be seen, the Legislature specifically sets forth those vehicles 

that constitute a motor vehicle.  

Since a snowmobile is a self-propelled vehicle it may seem to fit 

within the definition. However, RCW 82.44.125 (2) establishes that a snow-

mobile, like a lawn mower, is not a “motor vehicle.”  

RCW 82.44.125 (2) provides, in part: 

The motor vehicle excise tax authorized un-

der this chapter does not apply to the follow-

ing vehicles: 

… 

(c) Equipment not designed primarily for use 

on public highways. 

 

The definition of “snowmobile” in RCW 46.04.546 is indicative of 

the fact that it is normally operated on snow and ice as opposed to roadways. 

RCW 46.10.460 provides: 

It shall be lawful to drive or operate a snow-

mobile across public roadways and highways 

other than limited access highways when: 

 

The crossing is made at an angle of approxi-

mately ninety degrees to the direction of the 

highway and at a place where no obstruction 

prevents a quick and safe crossing; and 

 

The snowmobile is brought to a complete 

stop before entering the public roadway or 

highway; and 
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The operator of the snowmobile yields the 

right-of-way to motor vehicles using the 

public roadway or highway; and 

 

The crossing is made at a place which is 

greater than one hundred feet from any public 

roadway or highway intersection. 

 

(Emphasis supplied.) 

Moreover RCW 46.10.490 (1)(f) prohibits the operation of snow-

mobiles on a highway. There is an exception which is set forth in RCW 

46.10.470. It provides, in part:  

Notwithstanding the provisions of RCW 

46.10.460, it shall be lawful to operate a 

snowmobile upon a public roadway or high-

way: 

 

Where such roadway or highway is com-

pletely covered with snow or ice and has been 

closed by the responsible governing body to 

motor vehicle traffic during the winter 

months. 

 

(Emphasis supplied.) 

Finally, the statutory construction of a statute must be considered 

when there is the potential for ambiguity. Under the doctrine of expressio 

unius est exclusio alterius the expression or inclusion of one thing in a stat-

ute implies the exclusion of other things or alternatives. See: Blacks Law 

Dictionary (9th ed.).  

 

http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=46.10.460
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CONCLUSION 

Ms. Tucker contends that the Court of Appeals decision is correct. 

There is no issue of substantial public interest involved. It is well reasoned 

and is supported by both caselaw and the rules of statutory construction.  

Ms. Tucker respectfully requests that the State’s Petition for Discre-

tionary Review be denied.